

2026 Community Corrections and Justice Reinvestment Grant Announcement

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

DESCRIPTION

This guide is intended for applicants of the Community Corrections and Justice Reinvestment Grant Funding administered by the Indiana Department of Correction.



INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Table of Contents

Availability and Duration of Funding	2
Purpose of Grant	
Target Population by Grant Entity	5
Community Corrections	5
Probation	5
Prosecutor's Diversion	5
Court Recidivism Reduction Programs (Problem Solving Courts)	5
Jail Treatment	5
Pre-Trial Services	θ
Funding Consideration and Prioritization	6
Grantee Requirements	7
Community Corrections Advisory Board	7
Community Corrections Plan	7
County Community Supervision Collaboration Plan	7
Data Requirements	8
Evidence-Based Practices	10
Funding Restrictions	10
Grant Application Procedures	11
Grant Application Submission	11
Grant Application Accompanying Documents	11
Grant Application Scoring and Review Process	11
Grant Award Announcements	13
Grant Technical Assistance	13
Appendix I	14
Eligible Entities Defined	14
Community Corrections Program	14
Probation	15
Prosecutor's Diversion	15
Jail Treatment	16
Court Recidivism Reduction Programs (Problem Solving Courts)	16
Pre-Trial Services	17



INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Appendix II	18
Evidence Based Practices	18
Required Entity Policies	19
Required Entity Documents	
Appendix III	
Helpful Resources	21
Sources	

DEPAR TOF COLL

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Availability and Duration of Funding

This is a one-time solicitation, offering support for a maximum period of 12 months beginning January 1, 2026, and ending December 31, 2026. Applicants awarded may begin charging expenditures to the grant award beginning January 1, 2026, in accordance with the Community Corrections Advisory Board's approved budget.

The Funding availability is subject to the Indiana state budget appropriation outlined under House Enrolled Act 1001, effective July 1, 2025.

All awards are subject to the availability of appropriated funds and to any modifications or additional requirements that may be imposed by law.

Purpose of Grant

AUTHORITY: IC 11-12

For the purposes of encouraging counties to develop a coordinated local corrections-criminal justice system and providing effective alternatives to imprisonment at the state level, the Indiana Department of Correction (IDOC) Commissioner shall make grants to counties for:

The establishment and operation of:

- Community Corrections Programs
- Court Supervised Recidivism Reduction Programs (Problem Solving Courts), as defined by <u>IC 33-</u>
 23-16

Support funding to:

- Probation Departments
- Pre-Trial Services Programs
- Prosecutor's Diversion Programs
- Jail Treatment Programs

The state awarded funds may be used for one or more of the following purposes:

- Assisting a county in defraying the expenses of incarceration
- Funding mental health, addiction, and cognitive behavior treatment programs for incarcerated persons within the confines of the county jail, that are not otherwise covered by HIP 2.0, Medicaid, and (or) Recovery Works
- Funding mental health, addiction, and cognitive behavior treatment programs for persons who
 are on probation, are supervised by a community corrections program, or are participating in a
 pre-trial diversion program offered by a prosecuting attorney
- o Funding work release and other components of community corrections programs
- o Providing funding to a county for probation officer and community corrections officer salaries
- o Technology based programs, including an electronic monitoring program
- Grants may also be considered to fund alternative sentencing projects for persons with mental illness, intellectual disabilities, developmental disabilities, and addictive disorders. Programs for addictive disorders may include:
 - Addiction counseling
 - Inpatient detoxification

DEPARTURE NT OF COLL

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

 Medication-assisted treatment, including a federal Food and Drug Administration approved long acting, non-addictive medication for the treatment of opioid or alcohol dependence.

Note: Grants awarded must focus on funding evidence-based programs, including programs that utilize cognitive behavioral interventions and have a primary goal of reforming justice involved individuals by working collaboratively with local criminal justice agencies.

Target Population by Grant Entity

Grant funds are intended to benefit these specific populations served by eligible entities. All definitions for the entities below are found in Appendix I.

Community Corrections

Established under the authority of <u>IC 11-12</u>, administered by the Community Corrections Advisory Board, and must meet the guidelines and standards established by the Indiana Department of Correction

Post-conviction felons that are moderate to high risk, as identified by the Indiana Risk
 Assessment System (IRAS), placed as an alternative to jail or prison

Probation

Established under the authority of <u>IC 35-38-2</u>, meets any established criteria for funding under the Indiana Office of Court Services (IOCS), and funding is recommended and approved by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

Post-conviction felons that are moderate to high risk, as identified by the Indiana Risk
 Assessment System (IRAS), placed in the program as an alternative to jail or prison

Prosecutor's Diversion

Must meet the guidelines and standards of the Indiana Prosecuting Attorney Council (IPAC), and funding is recommended and approved by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

Pre-conviction individuals, who meet the criteria set forth under <u>IC 33-39-1-8</u> and IPAC's
 Guidelines, for whom prosecution of charges are withheld upon voluntarily agreeing to meet the conditions of the program

Court Recidivism Reduction Programs (Problem Solving Courts)

Established under the authority of <u>IC 33-23-16</u>, must be certified by the IOCS, meet any criteria set forth by IOCS, and funding is recommended and approved by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

Post-conviction felons that are moderate to high risk, as identified by the Indiana Risk
 Assessment System (IRAS), are placed as a condition of Probation or Community Corrections direct placement

Iail Treatment

Must meet any criteria established by the Department of Mental Health and Addiction Guidelines, and funding is recommended and approved by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

 Post-conviction felons or pre-conviction felons have been assessed with an actuarial assessment tool that demonstrates a moderate to high need for mental health and (or) addiction treatment services and have entered a voluntary, formal agreement for treatment during their jail incarceration.

TOP CONSTITUTE OF CONSTITUTE O

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Pre-Trial Services

Under the authority of Trial Rule 26, must be certified by the IOCS, meet all standards and guidelines established under IOCS, and funding is recommended and approved by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

o Individuals charged, but not convicted, of a felony who have been assessed by the IRAS Pre-Trial Risk Assessment Tool. Individuals who voluntarily agree to participate in treatment, programs, or services should be assessed with an alternative actuarial assessment tool to ensure there is a moderate to high need for participation in the treatment, program, or service.

Funding Consideration and Prioritization

Grant funding will be reviewed on an annual basis. A prior funding award is not guaranteed to continue operations. Applying for funding and approval from the Community Corrections Advisory Board does not guarantee a funding award from the Indiana Department of Correction. Each grant funded entity is subject to reporting and performance requirements outlined by the Indiana Department of Correction.

The Indiana Department of Correction will award grants with review and consideration of the following:

- Funding availability
- o Allocations and county share of their percentage of funding
- o Continued support of operations with consideration of prior awards under this grant
- o Prioritization and recommendation of the Community Corrections Advisory Board
- Collaboration with local criminal justice partners
- o Target population and supporting data including, but not limited to:
 - o Participant Risk Data from the Indiana Office of Court Services
 - Census and population of the county
 - County Individual Admissions to the Department of Correction
- Capacity to comply with meeting guidelines, standards, data collection, and report submissions under this grant
- Indiana Office of Court Services recommendations for funding Probation, Problem Solving Courts, and Pre-Trial Services
- Department of Mental Health and Addiction recommendations for funding Jail Treatment
 Programs and programs for addictive disorders
- Indiana Prosecuting Attorney's Council recommendations for funding Prosecutor's Diversion Programs

Priority is given to those applicants who:

- Demonstrate collaboration among the Community Corrections Advisory Board and local criminal justice agencies
- Demonstrate diversion from jail or prison (including, but not limited to use of graduated sanctions to reduce jail overcrowding, prison admissions, and revocations)
- Provide alternative sentences for people with mental illness, addictive disorders, intellectual disabilities, and developmental disabilities
- Hold the capacity to support the implementation of the Supervised Release System (SRS)

DEPARTMENT OF CORE

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Grantee Requirements

Entities receiving grant funding must have the capacity to implement and sustain the following:

Community Corrections Advisory Board

Eligible entities may only apply after the establishment of a Community Corrections Advisory Board under <u>IC 11-12-2-2</u>.

- The Advisory Board will be required to provide by-laws, member rosters, annual meeting schedules, and meeting minutes to the Department Community Corrections Division.
- The Advisory Board must approve and prioritize each entity's funding request prior to submission of the grant application to the Indiana Department of Correction. The prioritization of funding must be listed in the required letter of support that accompanies this application.
- At the close of each grant cycle, the Advisory Board must provide the Department an evaluation of the effectiveness of programs, recommendations for improvement, modification, or discontinuance of these programs. Any entities or programs that were recommended to discontinue are not eligible under this application.

Community Corrections Plan

Each eligible entity seeking grant funding must meet the definitions outlined in Appendix I.

Note: The Indiana Department of Correction's Grant Application serves as the Community Corrections Plan.

Submitted applications must include:

- o A description of each program for which financial aid is sought
- o The purpose, objective, administrative structure, staffing, and duration of the program
- A method to evaluate each component of the program to determine the overall use of department approved best practices for the program
- The program's total operating budget including all other sources of anticipated income in its totality
- o The location and description of facilities that will be used in the program
- The amount of community involvement and client participation in the program
- How counties that jointly apply for financial aid under this chapter will operate a coordinated community corrections program
- A plan of collaboration among the probation department, the community corrections program, and any other local criminal justice agency that receives funding from the department for the provision of community supervision for adults. Counties are encouraged to include the courts, prosecuting attorneys, public defenders, and sheriffs when addressing the needs of the local criminal justice population.

County Community Supervision Collaboration Plan

The community supervision Collaboration Plan must be submitted to the department and the Indiana Office of Court Services annually and must include:

- A list of all entities and criminal justice stakeholders involved in collaboration
- A description of the evidence-based services provided to felons by the community corrections program, the probation department, and other criminal justice agencies

DEPARTURE NO COOK

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

- How the community corrections program, the probation department, and other criminal justice agencies intend to reduce the duplication of services to individuals under community supervision
- How the community corrections program, the probation department, and other criminal justice agencies intend to coordinate operations and collaborate on the supervision of adult felons
- o The eligibility criteria established for community-based services provided to adult felons.
- The criteria for using the community corrections program as an intermediate sanction for an individual's violation of probation conditions
- A description of how financial aid from The Department, program fees, problem solving court user fees, and probation user fees will be used to provide services to adult felons; and
- Documentary evidence of compliance with:
 - Indiana Department of Correction rules, standards, and guidelines established for Community Corrections Programs
 - Indiana Judicial Conference of Indiana Standards for Probation Departments, Problem Solving Courts, and Pre-Trial Services
 - Prosecuting Attorneys Council of Indiana Diversion and Deferral Guidelines for Prosecutor Diversion Programs
 - Indiana Jail Standards and Division of Mental Health and Addiction Standards for Jail Treatment Programs.

Data Requirements

Each entity must have the capacity to support the implementation and use of the Supervised Release System (SRS).

AUTHORITY: IC 11-12-2

Each entity receiving state grant funding will collect and maintain the required data required by the Indiana Department of Correction. Data will be collected and evaluated to show compliance with the community corrections plan, The Department contract, and for purposes under the agency's quality assurance policy. Agencies will be required to submit data, with assistance from the Indiana Department of Correction if needed, in a specified format by specific deadline dates.

AUTHORITY: IC 33-38-9.5-2

Programs must collect specific data that will be sent by the Department to the Justice Reinvestment Advisory Council for an annual report. This data includes:

- The total number of participants, categorized by level of most serious offense, who were served by the grant funded entity
- The percentage of participants, categorized by level of most serious offense, who completed a treatment program, service, or level of supervision
- The percentage of participants, categorized by level of most serious offense, who were discharged from a treatment program or service, or level of supervision
- The percentage of participants, categorized by level of most serious offense, who:
 - o completed a funded treatment program, service, or level of supervision
 - were subsequently committed to the Department of Correction within 24 months after completing the funded treatment program service, or level of supervision

DEPAR TO F CORD

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

- The percentage of participants categorized by level of most serious offense, who were:
 - discharged from a funded treatment program, service, or level of supervision; and were subsequently committed to the Department of Correction within 24 months after completing the funded treatment program service, or level of supervision
- The total number of participants who:
 - completed a funded treatment program service, or level of supervision; and were legally employed.
- Any additional information requested by the Department that is relevant to the funding of the eligible entities.

Note: Data requirements are subject to change.

Community Corrections Program Data Requirements:

- o Monthly Population Snapshot Report established by the Community Corrections Division
- o Annual Report evaluation by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

Court Recidivism Reduction Program Data Requirements:

- o Monthly Population Snapshot Report established by the Community Corrections Division
- Performance Measures that include baseline data and progress updates at the mid-point and year-end
- o Annual Report evaluation by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

Probation, Jail Treatment Programs, Prosecutor's Diversion, and Pre-Trial Services Data Requirements:

- Quarterly Data collected and submitted in the manner prescribed by the Community Corrections
 Division
- Performance Measures that include baseline data and progress updates at the mid-point and year-end
- Annual Report evaluation by the Community Corrections Advisory Board

DE PARTIE OF COURT

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Evidence-Based Practices

Eligible entities must focus on providing evidence-based programs and services with the primary purpose of reforming justice involved individuals.

Each eligible entity must meet the criteria outlined in Appendix II (page 18).

Policies, Procedures, & Documents

Eligible entities must follow all policies and procedures outlined in the Community Corrections Procedural Manual which can be found here: IDOC: Grant Procedural Manual

Eligible entities are required to have policies, procedures, and documents for their agency as outlined in Appendix II.

Funding Restrictions

Requirements and restrictions on the expenditure of grant funds, where given, must be adhered to by the applicant. The following funding restrictions are applicable to grant funds awarded by the Indiana Department of Correction.

The Indiana Department of Correction grant funding awards may **NOT** pay for:

- Any staff not designated for an awarded entity's operations
- o Capital construction, renovation, remodeling, or land acquisition (IC 11-12-2-8).
- Purchasing, leasing, and/or long-term rental (i.e. renting with intent to use on a regular on-going basis) of vehicles.
- o Firearms, ammunition, or tactical equipment
- Staff clothing and/or uniforms
- o Lobbying, political contributions, honoraria, or bonuses
- o Personal entertainment, personal calls, or alcohol
- Gift cards
- o Any other purpose that was not outlined or approved in the grant application

Additionally, the following requirements apply to entities requesting funding:

- The Community Corrections and Justice Reinvestment Grant funding may be used to supplement or expand existing funds for programs
- Grant funding may <u>NOT</u> be used to supplant or replace in whole or part current federal, state, or local funding support that may be associated with the administration or operation of an entity
- Grant funding may <u>NOT</u> be used to duplicate programs or services for clients residing in, or being released to, the same locality. Each applicant must describe the extent and type of services provided by each program in the Collaboration Plan to ensure that funds are not being used to duplicate services in one geographical area.

Supplanting vs. Supplementing Funding Example:

County A's Prosecutor's Office has an established Prosecutor's Diversion Program funded with \$50,000 in county funds. The funding covers salary, payroll taxes & fringe benefits, and some training costs for a part-time coordinator. County A's Prosecutor's Office would like to apply for a \$70,000 grant from the

DEPARTMENT OF CORL

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Department's Community Corrections and Justice Reinvestment funding for Prosecutor's Diversion Programs to operate their established Prosecutor's Diversion program.

Supplanting: County A's Prosecutor's Office would be supplanting if they used the \$70,000 grant to replace, the \$50,000 that the county currently appropriates for the Prosecutor's Diversion Program, and then use that \$50,000 for a different purpose other than the Prosecutor's Diversion Program.

Supplementing: County A's Prosecutor's Office would not be supplanting if they used the \$70,000 grant to enhance the programming provided with the \$50,000 in county funds. The Prosecutor's Diversion program would now have a \$120,000 budget and would be able to add additional staff for the program services or increase the capacity of the program.

Grant Application Procedures

Grant Application Submission:

Eligible applicants must complete the 2026 Grant Application (Community Corrections Plan) and submit it via the designated grants management system no later than 4/11/2025.

Grant Application Accompanying Documents

Each entity applying must provide the following documents as a part of their grant application:

- List of Agency Positions or Organizational Chart
- Participant Fee Policy
- Quality Assurance Policy, if applicable
- o Participant Criteria Policy, if applicable
- Program Budget
- Current County Collaboration Plan
- A letter of support & funding prioritization from the local Community Corrections Advisory Board
- A letter of support from the County Commissioners
- A list of current Advisory Board Members
- Job Descriptions (for all new positions requested)

Note: The application and supporting documentation must be submitted electronically via the grant management system. Applications submitted in any other format will not be accepted. Failure to fully complete the application process as described above and (or) late submissions may result in the application being rejected for the award period.

Grant Application Scoring and Review Process

The Indiana Department of Correction will score applications on the following:

- Quality and thoroughness of the application, including but not limited to:
 - Adherence to instructions
 - Timeliness of submission
 - Completeness of application
 - Professionalism of application

DEPAR TOF CORD

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

- The capacity to meet grant guidelines, standards, and requirements including but not limited to:
 - Compliance during prior grant cycles and use of prior grant awards
 - Having an effective system for data collection and measurement
 - Having Continuous Quality Improvement processes
 - The ability to use research-informed and evidence-based practices
- The demonstrated need as outlined in the Entity Proposal, including but not limited to:
 - Problems identified are locally relevant
 - Continued support of operations with consideration of prior awards under this grant
 - Access to treatment, services, and programs
 - Description of caseload sizes & staff to participant ratios
 - Estimated number of participants to be served
 - Proposed use of evidence-based practices
 - Fiscal support including but not limited to:
 - Amount of grant funding used to support operations and sustain operations
 - The applying entity's full operating budget
 - Prior use of the funding including the amount of unused funds, change requests, and audits
 - Complete and thorough justifications provided for all funding requests

Note: The Department does not administer or monitor the budgets for Probation, Problem Solving Courts, or Pre-Trial Services. However, a <u>FULL</u> operating budget is collected from each entity with all funding sources that contribute to its operations to calculate the grant support needed.

- The target population and supporting data include but are not limited to:
 - Target Population fits the eligibility criteria as outlined within this grant announcement
 - Risk assessment data from the Indiana Office of Court Services
 - Census and population of the county
 - Data submitted during prior award periods
- o Performance Measures and Outcomes including but not limited to:
 - Performance Measures submissions
 - Annual Advisory Board evaluation & recommendations report
 - Grant contract compliance
 - Admissions to the Department of Correction
 - Certifications, evaluations, supporting data, and recommendations from stakeholders of the entities requesting supported funds
- Collaboration with local criminal justice partners including but not limited to:
 - Prioritization and recommendation of the Community Corrections Advisory Board
 - Recommendation and support of the County Commissioners
 - Evidence of collaboration among all grant funded entities within the county
 - Ensuring that programs and services are not duplicated by multiple criminal justice agencies

DEPARTOR CORD

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

The grant application will be reviewed and scored by the Department's Program Directors. The Program Directors will contact grantees for any missing information or request clarification of the proposal if needed.

During the recommendation process, the Department will collaborate and review applications with:

- The Indiana Office of Court Services for Probation, Problem Solving Courts, and Pre-Trial Services entities
- o The Department of Mental Health and Addiction for Jail Treatment entities
- o Indiana Prosecuting Attorney's Council for Prosecutor's Diversion entities

Once the application review process is completed, grant funding award recommendations will be presented to the Justice Reinvestment Advisory Council (JRAC) as a public document. The Council may provide additional input and guidance on grant funding award recommendations. Awarded amounts recommended by JRAC will then be taken to the Indiana Department of Correction's Commissioner for final approval.

Grant Award Announcements

Following the Commissioner's approval of final grant award recommendations, the Community Corrections Advisory Board and the awarded entities will receive an *Intent to Award Letter* from the Indiana Department of Correction.

- The award letter will include instructions for any entity that needs to make changes to their budget based on the award amount.
- Awarded grant entities will be directed to the Grant Procedural Manual for instructions, requirements, and conditions of the grant award.
- Once the revised budget is submitted, each awarded entity will receive a contract under the administration of the Community Corrections Advisory Board and approved by the county fiscal body.

Counties receiving awards must agree to the grant award terms and conditions as outlined in the Grant Contract Agreement.

Note: Applicants not chosen for awards will receive written notification from the Indiana Department of Correction.

Applicants that have questions concerning the approval or disapproval of their proposals may submit a request for reconsideration in writing and an amended application, within fifteen (15) days after being informed of its grant award.

Grant Technical Assistance

For assistance with the application procedures or the implementation of evidence-based practices, please refer to your regional Program Director according to the Division Contact Page on our website.

DEPARATION OF CORN

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Appendix I

Eligible Entities Defined

Community Corrections Program

Community Corrections is a community-based supervision agency established under a Community Corrections Advisory Board (local board of criminal justice stakeholders) for the primary purpose of providing sentencing alternatives for moderate to high-risk felons in lieu of incarceration. A community corrections program focuses on changing participant's behavior and recidivism reduction strategies. An advisory board appoints a Community Corrections Director to oversee the program and administers the funding, programs, fees, structure, eligibility, and rules (known as the Community Corrections Plan). A Community Corrections sentence is an executed term of placement, however, eligibility and participation in a Community Corrections program is established by the Advisory Board that includes referrals from Probation, Problem Solving Courts, Parole, etc.

Community Corrections programs provide a graduated intensity of supervision and monitoring while providing targeted case management that is more intensive than typical probation or parole supervision. Its levels of supervision include day reporting, 24-hour electronic monitoring, and residential centers where its participants have restricted access to the community.

Community Corrections serves an important role in diversion and rehabilitation through transitional programming and serves as an intermediate sanction for Parole, Probation, Courts, and other community-based supervision or programs.

- Community Corrections as defined by <u>IC 11-12-1-1</u>:
 - A community-based program that provides preventive services, services to persons
 charged with a crime or an act of delinquency, services to persons diverted from the
 criminal or delinquency process, services to persons sentenced to imprisonment, or
 services to victims of crime or delinquency, and is operated under a community
 corrections plan of a county and funded at least in part by the state subsidy provided in
 IC 11-12-2.
 - Community Corrections consists of the following levels of supervision:
 - Residential and work release program
 - Electronic monitoring (home detention) program
 - Day treatment, or day reporting program

As part of the overall Community Corrections program, treatment and services may be provided that address the following under <u>IC 11-12-1-2.5</u>:

- Educational programs
- Mental health treatment
- o Drug or alcohol abuse treatment including:
 - o Addiction counseling
 - Inpatient detoxification

DEPARTURE NO COOK

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

- Medication assisted treatment, including a federal Food and Drug Administration approved long acting, non-addictive medication for the treatment of opioid or alcohol dependence
- Housing services

Community Corrections user fees are established and administered by the Community Corrections Advisory Board. A fee schedule is required under the Community Corrections Plan and is approved by the Department of Correction. All program fees under its levels of supervision, including home detention fees, are deposited into a Community Corrections Project Income account. The expenditures of the user fees are administered by the Community Corrections Advisory Board and are to only be used for Community Corrections programs.

Note: All programs, treatments, and services provided under a community corrections program must use evidence-based services, programs, and practices that are proven to reduce the risk of recidivism.

Probation

Probation refers to a suspended court ordered term of supervision where the probationer remains under the jurisdiction of the judiciary. The Probation Department is overseen by a Chief Probation Officer who is appointed under the Judicial Conference and serves as a member of the Community Corrections Advisory Board.

Probation serves as an alternative to jail or prison and targets felons who are not eligible for Community Corrections under conditions set forth under IC 35-38-2. Probation supervision terms include payment of fees, random drug screens, and check-ins. A term of probation may include referrals to treatment and programming based on responsivity and identified criminogenic needs. These are characteristics, traits, or issues that research has demonstrated a correlation to recidivism. If a probationer does not meet their assigned conditions, the probation officer may file a violation with the court. Sanctions can be anything from continuing probation, adding additional time to the length of probation, imposing new requirements of probation like a term of home detention, revoking probation, and sentencing the person to some or all backup time in jail or on community corrections.

The Judicial Conference administers the probation standards and guidelines for probation officers and the supervision practices for probation. The employees of a Probation Department are the employees of the trial courts that they serve and follow the salary schedule set by the Indiana Judicial Conference.

Probation fees are set forth under IC 35-38-2 and listed in the *Indiana Trial Court Fee Manual*. Under IC 35-38-2-1(f) Probation User Fees are collected by the county clerk and transferred to the county treasurer who deposits all funds collected into the county *Supplemental Adult Probation Services* Fund and is administered by the fiscal body of the county for operations and personnel.

Prosecutor's Diversion

An alternative to prosecution is where the Prosecutor and the Defendant enter into a written agreement on terms of compliance that if met, dismiss the charges. The Indiana Prosecutor Attorney Council oversees the guidelines for diversion standards. <u>IC 33-39-1-8</u> outlines the conditions when prosecution may be withheld.

DEPARTURE AT OF COLUMN

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

The diversion service and terms of the contract are established by the elected Prosecuting Attorney. These diversion agreements typically apply to non-violent misdemeanor cases where the Defendant has little to no previous criminal history or may have a treatment or service need that provides the defendant with the opportunity to rehabilitate. Requirements may include an educational program, community services, treatment referral, or a term of compliance. It provides an opportunity to save judicial resources while providing service needs and accountability. If the Defendant successfully completes the agreement, the pending criminal charges are dismissed, and the person avoids a criminal conviction.

All fees for participation in the agreement are established by the elected Prosecuting Attorney and are collected by the County Clerk and deposited into the city town fund under <u>IC 33-37-4-1</u>. The county's fiscal body administers the funds collected under this service. The elected Prosecuting Attorney shall not receive any salary appropriation from diversion or deferral funds.

Jail Treatment

Jail Treatment refers to a broad range of services aimed at providing evidenced-based mental health and substance abuse treatment through a certified in-house counselor or contract with a local treatment provider. These services offer short-term stability and access to treatment while an individual is housed in jail, waiting on trial, or serving a sanctioned sentence until they can be placed into full-time care for treatment or on a community supervision program where they are monitored with the continuation of care.

Court Recidivism Reduction Programs (Problem Solving Courts)

Problem Solving Courts are certified court programs under the authority of <u>IC 33-23-16</u>. These programs provide an immediate and highly structured judicial intervention for high need individuals that could not be adequately addressed in traditional courts.

They include the following as defined by IC 33-23-16:

- drug court
- o mental health court
- o family dependency drug court
- o community court
- o reentry court
- domestic violence court
- o veterans' court
- o any other court certified as a problem-solving court by the Indiana Office of Court Services

The Judicial Conference includes a Problem-Solving Committee that administers the standards and rules for operating a problem-solving court. The Indiana Office of Court Services oversees adherence to these standards as part of their certification process. Outcomes and data are collected through the Indiana Supreme Court's Technology division.

Placement into a problem solving court is outlined under <u>IC 33-23-16-13</u> and includes post-conviction referrals for conditions of probation, community corrections, community transition program, parole, etc. In addition, individuals may be placed into a problem-solving court for deferred prosecution.

TO COLLEGE OF THE PARTY OF OF THE PARTY

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

The services are conducted by a team outlined in the Problem-Solving Court rules and include a screening assessment, supervision, service coordination, treatment, education, and rehabilitation. Fees for a problem solving court are set forth under IC 33-23-16-23 and are listed in the *Indiana Trial Court Fee Manual*. The User Fees are collected by the county clerk and transferred to the county treasurer who deposits all funds collected into the *County User Fee Fund* under IC 33-37-8. The county's fiscal body administers the funds collected under this service which are to only be used for problem solving court services.

NOTE: If a problem solving court is administered by community corrections, the advisory board can choose whether fees are deposited into the county user fee fund or community corrections' project income fund.

Pre-Trial Services

A certified organization under the administration of the Indiana Office of Court Services that strives to achieve the "3 M's"- maximizing public safety, maximizing court appearance, and maximizing pre-trial release. Pretrial Services perform three primary program functions:

- Collecting and analyzing defendant information for use by the court in assessing risk
- Making recommendations to the court concerning bail, bonds, and conditions of release to address risk
- Monitoring and supervising defendants who are released from secure custody during the pretrial phase to manage their risk.

The organization is overseen by the Pre-Trial Services Coordinator who is designated by the supervising Judge with authority of IC 35-31.5-2-121.5. A defendant is placed into pre-trial services to maximize releases for low-risk individuals awaiting trial in the jail. The pre-trial services coordinator and staff provide a pre-trial risk assessment, pre-trial services reports, pre-trial supervision, pre-trial compliance monitoring, and performance measurement of arrestees and pre-trial defendants to the Indiana Office of Court Services.

Fees for pre-trial services are set forth under <u>IC 33-39-1-8</u> and are listed in the *Indiana Trial Court Fee Manual*. The User Fees are collected by the County Clerk and 50% of the fees are transferred into the county's supplemental adult probation services fund and 50% into the public defender services fund under <u>IC 33-40-3-1</u>. The fiscal body of the county shall appropriate money from the county supplemental adult probation services fund for pre-trial services.

DE PARAMENT OF COLUMN

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Appendix II

Evidence-Based Practices

The Integrated Model: Each eligible entity must agree to utilize the integrated model when implementing evidence-based practices. This model includes the following components:

- Evidence-Based Principles: Each entity is responsible for researching the best practices standards and performance indicators for its target population before submission of the grant application. Please refer to the Appendix III of this
- Organizational Development: Each entity has established a climate and culture for the implementation of Evidence-Based Practices. This includes elements such as Mission & Vision Statements, strategic plan/logic model, leadership, communication/training, and policies/practices that all support Evidence-Based Practices.

document for recommendations.



 Collaboration: County/Regional collaboration with the Advisory Board and additional stakeholders that have discussed funding priorities, reducing duplication of services, the implementation of Evidence-Based Decision Making as the mechanism to address the local criminal justice system, and the commitment to recidivism reduction.

Each entity is required to follow the framework of Evidence-Based Practices through the following:

- Program Assessment: Systematically reviewing available evidence on the effectiveness of interventions and programs.
- Budget Development: Incorporating evidence of program effectiveness into budget and policy decisions, requesting funding for programs that deliver a high return on investment of public funds as a priority.
- o *Implementation Oversight:* Ensuring that programs are effectively delivered to their intended design, including internal, referral, and contractually funded organizations.
- Outcome Monitoring: Routinely measuring and reporting outcome data to determine whether interventions are achieving desired results.
- Targeted Evaluation: Conducting evaluations of newly implemented programs and untested programs to ensure that they warrant continued funding.
- Caseload Standards: The best available evidence does not specifically define an optimal caseload size due to multiple variables across jurisdictions. However, some concepts appear consistently across the research. For example, caseloads can be grouped into several broad categories based on key criteria such as risk of re-offending, offense type, and criminogenic needs. Also, generally speaking, low risk/need cases require little to no active supervision while higher risk/intensity cases require much more time, resources, and support from the officer/program. Overall, agencies should utilize differential supervision procedures and avoid a "one size fits all" supervision standard.

DEPAR INTENT OF CORD

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Required Entity Policies

Each grant funded entity is expected to have the following documents and policies/procedures on file. All policies/procedures should have Advisory Board approval and be reviewed annually.

- Use of Indiana Risk Assessment System (IRAS) (not applicable to Jail Treatment Programs)
- o Participant Program, Treatment, and Services Eligibility Criteria
 - This should describe the eligibility requirements for all internal, contractual, and referral programs, interventions, services, and treatment. Exclusionary criteria should also be included.
- Contractual Services & Treatment Providers
 - Contractual organizations must have a written agreement that verifies that they will
 provide evidence-based programs and services, data, and be evaluated by the
 contracted entity.

Note: Private or non-profit organizations may receive grant funds only through contracting with an awarded entity. Contractual organizations are subject to the standards of the eligible entity and must be reviewed on an annual basis by the entity that provided the contractual funding.

- Case Management
 - Use of validated actuarial assessments, case planning, & program referrals should be included
- Differential Supervision
 - This should include contact standards based on the participant's risk level
- Participant Rules and Standards
- Alcohol and Drug Testing
- Participant Incentives
- Graduated Sanctions
 - This should describe the progressive form of discipline that will occur prior to the removal of a participant in a program. The progressive consequences for noncompliance must be predictive, risk-based, and consistent.
- Performance Measurements
 - Statistical data collection procedures and performance measurement tracking and evaluation should be included.
 - Each awarded entity must have a plan and practice for quality assurance standards for all data submitted to the Indiana Department of Correction.
- Fiscal Management
 - This should include cash handling procedures for participant fee collection, establishment and use of an accounting system, and compliance with all applicable requirements of the Indiana State Board of Accounts
 - Cash Handling Procedures including, but are not limited to:
 - Staff Permitted to Receive Cash Payments
 - Receipts and Deposits
 - Quality Assurance

DEPARTURE NT OF COLL

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

- Fixed Asset Tracking & Management (grant funded items)
- Participant Program Fees
 - This should include a documented fee schedule for services provided by the entity.
- Staff Training Requirements
 - This should include initial training requirements and annual training requirements
- Transfer of Clients (not applicable to Jail Treatment Programs)
- o Field Supervision (if applicable) to include, but not limited to:
 - Home Visits and Searches
 - Field Contacts
 - Documentation of Visits
- Firearms (if applicable)
- Sexual Harassment
- Emergency Operations
- o Any Additional Required County Policies

Required Entity Documents

In addition to the policies outlined above, each entity is expected to have the following documents on file at their respective site location:

- Advisory Board Meeting Dates
- Advisory Board Members List (including contact information and term expiration dates)
- Advisory Board By-Laws (Community Corrections entities only)
- Annual Employee Performance Reports
- o Entity Mission and Vision Statements
- o Entity/Program Strategic Plan
- Fixed Assets Inventory List (items purchased with grant funds)
- o Forensic Diversion Plan (Community Corrections entities only)
- Job Descriptions of All Positions
- Memorandum of Understanding for Each Outside Treatment Provider & Contractual Service Provider (current)
- Staffing Inventory List/Organization Chart



INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DIVISION

Appendix III

Helpful Resources

Description Description	Resource
Caseload Standards	Caseload Standards for Probation and Parole
	Effective Case Management
	Policy Reforms Can Strengthen Community Supervision
	Dosage: Knowing When and How Much
Collaboration	The Council of State Governments Justice Center
Community Corrections	Policy Framework to Strengthen Community Corrections
	Implementing Evidence-Based Practices in Community Corrections
Evidence-Based Decision- Making Framework	NIC's Framework for Evidence-Based Decision Making
Integrated Model	Using an integrated model to implement Evidence-Based Practices in Corrections
Jail Treatment	Virginia's Residential Treatment Performance Measurement Guide
	Matching Offenders for Treatment
	Preventing Future Crime With Cognitive Behavioral Therapy
Pre-Trial Services	A Framework for Pre-Trial Justice
	Creating an Effective Pre-Trial Program Toolkit
	Pre-Trial Services Starter Kit
	Indiana Office of Court Services - Pre-Trial Release Resources
Probation	Indiana Probation Standards
	<u>Virginia's Probation Performance Measurement Guides</u>
Problem Solving Courts	Performance measurement for Problem Solving Courts
Prosecutor's Diversion	Measuring What Matters: Outcome and Performance Measures for the Pretrial Services Field National Institute of Corrections (nicic.gov)
	IPAC Diversion and Deferral Guidelines
	NASPA Diversion Standards

Sources

Crime and Justice Institute (2009). *Implementing Evidence-Based Policy and Practice in Community Corrections* (2nded.). Washington: National Institute of Corrections

Andrews, D.A., and J. Bonta (2010). *The psychology of criminal conduct, fifth edition*. New Providence, NI:

Matthew Bender & Company, Inc.

Latessa, E.J. (2004). The challenge of change: Correctional programs and evidence-based practices. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 3(4), 547-560.

The PEW Center and MacArthur Foundation (2014): Evidence Based Policy Making. A guide for effective government

Anthony Manos and Chad Vincent, *The Lean Handbook: A Guide to the Bronze Certification Body of Knowledge*, ASQ Quality Press, 2012, p. 141.